
This issue of the Earth Negotiations Bulletin © <enb@iisd.org> is written and edited by Reem Hajjar, Stefan Jungcurt, Ph.D., Kate Louw, Laura Russo, and Peter Wood, Ph.D. 
The Digital Editor is Dan Birchall. The Editor is Pamela S. Chasek, Ph.D. <pam@iisd.org>. The Director of IISD Reporting Services is Langston James “Kimo” Goree VI 
<kimo@iisd.org>. The Sustaining Donors of the Bulletin are the United Kingdom (through the Department for International Development – DFID), the Government of the United 
States of America (through the Department of State Bureau of Oceans and International Environmental and Scientific Affairs), the Government of Canada (through CIDA), the 
Danish Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the German Federal Ministry for Economic Cooperation and Development (BMZ), the German Federal Ministry for the Environment, Nature 
Conservation and Nuclear Safety (BMU), the Netherlands Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the European Commission (DG-ENV), and the Italian Ministry for the Environment, Land 
and Sea. General Support for the Bulletin during 2009 is provided by the Norwegian Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the Government of Australia, the Austrian Federal Ministry of 
Agriculture, Forestry, Environment and Water Management, the Ministry of Environment of Sweden, the New Zealand Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade, SWAN International, 
Swiss Federal Office for the Environment (FOEN), the Finnish Ministry for Foreign Affairs, the Japanese Ministry of Environment (through the Institute for Global Environmental 
Strategies - IGES), the Japanese Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry (through the Global Industrial and Social Progress Research Institute - GISPRI), the Government of 
Iceland, and the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP). Funding for the translation of the Bulletin into Spanish at this meeting has been provided by the Ministry of 
Environment of Spain. The opinions expressed in the Bulletin are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of IISD or other donors. Excerpts from the Bulletin 
may be used in non-commercial publications with appropriate academic citation. For information on the Bulletin, including requests to provide reporting services, contact the 
Director of IISD Reporting Services at <kimo@iisd.org>, +1-646-536-7556 or 300 East 56th St., 11A, New York, New York 10022, USA. The ENB Team at UNFF8 can be 
contacted by e-mail at <reem@iisd.org>.

Earth Negotiations Bulletin

Published by the International Institute for Sustainable Development (IISD)Vol. 13 No. 166 Wednesday, 22 April 2009

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
A Reporting Service for Environment and Development Negotiations

Online at http://www.iisd.ca/forestry/unff/unff8/

UNFF8
#3

UNFF8 HIGHLIGHTS:
TUESDAY, 21 APRIL 2009

In the morning, UNFF8 delegates discussed forests in a 
changing environment, including a panel discussion on forests and 
biodiversity, climate change and desertification. In the afternoon, 
plenary addressed regional inputs to the UNFF. Delegates later 
convened in two working groups (WG): WGI focused on forests 
in a changing environment; and WGII discussed means of 
implementation.

PLENARY
FORESTS IN A CHANGING ENVIRONMENT: Jan 

McAlpine, UNFF Director, introduced this agenda item 
(E/CN.18/2/2009/4-8). She said cross-sectoral coordination in 
member states is crucial to address the threats of climate change, 
biodiversity loss, forest degradation and desertification, and 
commended current international collaboration within the UN and 
through the Collaborative Partnership on Forests (CPF).

Risto Seppälä, Chair, Global Forest Expert Panel on Adaptation 
of Forests to Climate Change (GFEP), presented the Global 
Assessment on Adaptation of Forests and People to Climate 
Change, stressing, among other key messages, that climate change is 
already affecting forests and creating major socioeconomic impacts, 
and could offset forests’ carbon regulating functions. He suggested 
that UNFF8 adopt a message to be delivered to UNFCCC, and 
consider using GFEP as an advisory body. 

The Czech Republic, for the EU, stressed that SFM can play an 
important role in addressing global challenges in a coherent and 
integrated manner, and said that UNFF8 should provide guidance on 
how SFM contributes to meeting international agreements related to 
forests. 

COLOMBIA said that UNFCCC remains the most appropriate 
forum in which to address the role that forests play in climate 
change. She highlighted Colombia’s efforts to protect its forests, 
but noted the “ecocidal” impacts that armed groups and cocaine 
production have had on its forests.

BRAZIL noted that forest law enforcement issues must be 
addressed at the national level and opposed references to illegal 
logging in the background documents. He discouraged UNFF from 
working on bioenergy issues, noting that it would duplicate work in 
other fora, and cautioned against prejudging outcomes of UNFCCC 
negotiations. INDIA noted that UNFF could play a role in exploiting 
synergies amongst the forest-related conventions and organizations 
by avoiding duplication and improving communication.

CROATIA emphasized the need to incorporate climate change 
mitigation and adaptation strategies into national forest management 
and development policies, and noted that effective management of 
protected forest areas is critical to ensure their conservation.

PANEL ON FORESTS AND BIODIVERSITY, CLIMATE 
CHANGE AND DESERTIFICATION: Moderating the panel, 
Thomas Stelzer, Assistant Secretary General, UN Department of 
Economic and Social Affairs, emphasized that the physiology, 
structure and species composition of forests is threatened by climate 
change, and that the two billion people living in drylands are at risk.

Ahmed Djoghlaf, Executive Secretary, UN Convention on 
Biological Diversity (CBD), emphasized enhanced cooperation 
between forest-related multilateral environmental agreements. He 
underlined key findings of the CBD Ad Hoc Technical Expert Group 
on Biodiversity and Climate Change, including that: conservation 
of primary forests is of particular importance to reducing emissions 
and biodiversity loss; and that forest peoples will only benefit 
from reducing emissions from deforestation and forest degradation 
(REDD) if their land rights are secure and the principle of free prior 
informed consent is upheld. 

Luc Gnacadja, Executive Secretary, UN Convention to Combat 
Desertification (UNCCD), noted that the primary objective of 
creating synergies between sustainable land management (SLM) and 
sustainable forest management (SFM) is to improve the condition of 
degraded ecosystems. He stressed that areas of potential cooperation 
include: knowledge management; mainstreaming SLM and SFM 
at the regional and country level; and the setting of targets and 
formulation of incentive mechanisms to promote the conservation 
and improvement of drylands.

Jan Heino, CPF Chair, presented the CPF Strategic Framework 
for Forests and Climate Change, noting that the Framework 
addresses how to maximize the forest sector’s contributions to 
reducing emissions and sustainable development. He outlined 
the Framework’s key messages, including that: SFM provides an 
effective framework for forest-based mitigation and adaptation; 
intersectoral collaboration, economic incentives and alternative 
livelihoods are needed to reduce deforestation and forest 
degradation; and capacity-building and governance reforms are 
urgently required. 

Maria Sanz-Sanchez, on behalf of Yvo de Boer, Executive 
Secretary of UNFCCC, said forests and a REDD-plus approach 
are prominent in the UNFCCC negotiations. She said ongoing 
REDD initiatives will provide valuable lessons for future REDD 
mechanisms to be agreed by UNFCCC COP 15. She underlined the 
importance of coordinating stakeholder efforts at the national level.

Gustavo Fonseca, Global Environment Facility (GEF), recalled 
GEF’s successful experiences with forest funding and noted that 
GEF enhanced its commitment to SFM in the next replenishment 
period, starting in June 2010.

In the ensuing discussion, the REPUBLIC of KOREA called 
for immediate adaptation actions making use of traditional 
knowledge and synergies with actions combating desertification. 
MAURITANIA urged action towards making forests a vector for 



Wednesday, 22 April 2009   Vol. 13 No. 166  Page 2
Earth Negotiations Bulletin

 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

development. SURINAME encouraged donors to increase support 
to the GEF’s SFM programme. SWITZERLAND urged addressing 
forests’ multifunctional roles, and called on forest delegates 
to participate in UNFCCC negotiations. ISRAEL asked how 
national success stories can be translated into global initiatives. 
The DEMOCRATIC REPUBLIC OF CONGO asked how similar 
resources could be raised for SFM as for bank bailouts during the 
financial crisis. BENIN suggested support to local small-scale 
wood processing to reduce wood waste. SENEGAL called for 
more efficient use of financial resources. ARGENTINA asked 
how UNFF8 could increase resources for SFM implementation, 
and the US how it could improve coordination among funding 
mechanisms. Heino suggested building capacity in countries for 
forest inventories. Gnacadja said that the real synergies to be 
achieved are at the country level and not between secretariats. 

REGIONAL INPUTS: McAlpine presented on regional 
inputs (E/CN.18/2009/3). She noted that mandates and concerns 
vary among regional groups, and said regional groups could be 
instrumental in national cross-sectoral coordination and in the 
preparations for the International Year of Forests 2011.

PANEL ON REGIONAL AND SUB-REGIONAL 
PERSPECTIVES ON FORESTS IN A CHANGING 
ENVIRONMENT: Moderator Heino pointed to the FAO 
Regional Forestry Commissions as long-established mechanisms 
for coordinating policy and advancing common positions at the 
regional level.

Christian Küchli (Switzerland) reported the outcomes of the 
Austrian-Swiss Region-Led Initiative on Regional Inputs, and 
the South African-Swiss Country-Led Initiative (CLI) on Forest 
Governance and Decentralization in Africa. He noted that the 
latter recommended that UNFF take a pro-active role in setting 
standards for forest sector governance, in particular with regard to 
REDD. 

Abdul Wahid Abu Salim, Chair of the ASEAN Senior 
Officials on Forestry, outlined ASEAN regional activities on 
forest governance, including a regional reference framework 
for certification standards, efforts to address illegal logging 
and associated trade, and regional indicators for monitoring, 
assessment and reporting.

Martin Tadoum, Central African Forestry Commission 
(COMIFAC), described how the Forest Instrument has contributed 
to COMIFAC’s regional convergence plan and stakeholder 
dialogue on SFM, including participation by indigenous peoples 
and women. He highlighted that regional cooperation has enabled 
a common stance within negotiations for a post-Kyoto climate 
change agreement. 

Richard Huber, Organization of American States, presented 
on market-based instruments for SFM. He described the relative 
merits of various market mechanisms, stressed the need to 
eliminate subsidies, and highlighted Costa Rica and Mexico’s 
successes in rewarding forest restoration and protection. Noting 
that lush forested areas are often candidates for “high input, high 
output” agriculture, he stressed the need to target areas vulnerable 
to deforestation. 

Arne Ivar Sletnes, Ministerial Conference on the Protection 
of Forests in Europe (MCPFE), outlined MCPFE activities 
aiding Forest Instrument implementation, including: facilitating 
multilevel coordination of implementation activities; and 
promoting effective and active stakeholder participation. He noted 
that future UNFF work should encompass: governance and land 
tenure; strengthening cooperation with the Rio Conventions; and 
SFM contributions to challenges and demands of other sectors.

The PACIFIC COMMUNITY called for establishing a global 
forest fund, and said that REDD funding should not be seen as an 
alternative to SFM funding. 

The MONTREAL PROCESS outlined its work implementing 
SFM indicators, and noted that its work supports technical groups 
and enhances communication. JAMAICA called for an inter-
regional exchange of experiences. CHINA noted the Asia-Pacific 

Network for Sustainable Forest Management and Rehabilitation’s 
work on forest policy, management and research issues in Asia. 
The SOUTHERN AFRICAN DEVELOPMENT COMMUNITY 
said funding mechanisms should also consider regional entities.

In closing, Heino said the UNFF must acknowledge regional 
diversity and not look for a single format for regional participation. 

WORKING GROUP I
ENHANCED COOPERATION AND PROGRAMME 

COORDINATION: The Secretariat introduced the document 
(E/CN.18/2009/10), noting that aspects of this issue have been 
addressed under other agenda items.

FORESTS IN A CHANGING ENVIRONMENT: Upon 
hearing further information from the GFEP study on adaptation, 
Co-Chair Arvids Ozols (Latvia) invited general statements. The 
EU, ARGENTINA, the US and INDONESIA stressed addressing 
all forest values, not only carbon sequestration. The US outlined 
its domestic framework for response actions, including priority 
setting, risk analysis, institutional support and integration across all 
sectors. 

BRAZIL and COLOMBIA said UNFF should not encroach 
on the mandate of the three Rio Conventions, with COLOMBIA 
noting that the Forum should focus on promoting cooperation on 
SFM and REDD but that decisions on REDD pertain to UNFCCC.

NEW ZEALAND said the impacts of climate change on forests 
and forest biodiversity vary significantly among forest types and 
regions. MCPFE highlighted pan-European priorities including 
cross-sectoral communication and cooperation in bioenergy, water 
and climate change policies.

WORKING GROUP II
Co-Chair Glen Kile (Australia) outlined the outcomes of the Ad 

Hoc Expert Group on Financing, including the need for new and 
additional funding and a facilitative mechanism as the first step in 
developing the financing architecture for the Forest Instrument.

Sudan, for G-77/CHINA, noted that a global fund would 
promote capacity building, allow technology transfer to developing 
countries, and promote research as a tool for SFM.

SURINAME presented findings from the CLI on SFM 
Financing, including that: the proliferation of forest-related funds 
since UNFF7 needs to be countered with increased coordination; 
good governance, law enforcement, and clear land tenure are pre-
requisites to REDD; and that payments for environmental services 
are a key source of SFM financing. 

JAPAN outlined its new initiative, the Cool Earth Partnership, 
and noted that it will allocate funds for technical and financial 
assistance to developing countries over the next five years. The 
International Tropical Timber Organization (ITTO) highlighted 
the vast gap between existing forest financing and that required to 
achieve SFM in all the world’s tropical forests, and highlighted the 
creation of new ITTO Thematic Programmes that allow funding to 
be directed towards specific issues, such as REDD.

IN THE CORRIDORS
Mirroring recent discussions at the 19th session of the FAO’s 

Committee on Forestry, most delegates agreed on the need to 
convey a clear message to climate negotiators: SFM must be 
included in a post-Kyoto agreement, as a holistic approach that 
considers forests as more than just carbon sinks. While some 
pointed to the need to develop a common definition of what 
exactly SFM is, and in turn, what range of activities would be 
eligible for climate funding, many cautioned against opening the 
“black box” of defining SFM, as this would jeopardize achieving 
any agreement on the message in the first place. 

UNFF regulars, however, raised different concerns: pointing to 
countries stating that UNFF should not encroach on the mandates 
of other UN bodies, some noted that putting that message on 
paper may still prove challenging, even if all were to agree on its 
content.



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice


